ELSEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

International Journal of Surgery

journal homepage: www.journal-surgery.net



Review

Preventing T cell rejection of pig xenografts



Laura Higginbotham, Mandy L. Ford, Kenneth A. Newell, Andrew B. Adams*

Emory Transplant Center, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA, USA

HIGHLIGHTS

- Genetic engineering advances have curtailed the antibody barrier in xenotransplantation.
- Most successful immunosuppressive strategies in xenotransplantation also involve T cell depletion.
- Use of T cell costimulatory blockade, specifically of the CD40-CD154 pathway, has resulted in long-term xenograft survival.
- Transgenic expression of coinhibitory molecules by porcine cells shows promise at decreasing the T cell response in vitro.
- Therapy with various immunomodulatory cells has shown potential at inhibiting T cell responses to xenografts in vitro.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 July 2015 Accepted 30 July 2015 Available online 22 August 2015

Keywords: Xenotransplantation Cellular rejection T cell-mediated rejection Pig xenografts Nonhuman primate Renal transplant

ABSTRACT

Xenotransplantation is a potential solution to the limited supply of donor organs. While early barriers to xenograft acceptance, such as hyperacute rejection, are now largely avoided through genetic engineering, the next frontier in successful xenograft survival will require prevention of T cell-mediated rejection. Most successful immunosuppressive regimens in xenotransplantation utilize T cell depletion with antibody therapy. Additionally, the use of T cell costimulatory blockade - specifically blockade of the CD40-CD154 pathway — shows promise with several reports of long-term xenograft survival. Additional therapies, such as transgenic expression of T cell coinhibitory molecules or transfer of immunomodulatory cells to promote tolerance, may be necessary to achieve reliable long-term xenograft acceptance. Further studies in pre-clinical models are essential in order to optimize these regimens prior to trials in patients.

© 2015 Published by Elsevier Ltd on behalf of IJS Publishing Group Limited.

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | 286 |
|----|---|-----|
| 2. | Costimulation blockade to prevent xenogeneic T cell responses | 286 |
| | T cell depletion and clonal reduction | |
| 4. | Genetic engineering to evade T cell rejection of xenografts | 287 |
| 5. | Induction of tolerance to pig xenografts | 287 |
| | 5.1. Mixed chimerism | 287 |
| | 5.2. Thymic transplant | 288 |
| | 5.3. Cellular therapy to control xenograft rejection | 288 |
| 6. | Conclusions | 288 |
| | Conflict of interest | 288 |

Abbreviations: AMR, antibody-mediated rejection; APC, antigen-presenting cell; ATG, antithymocyte globulin; BM, bone marrow; CTLA-4, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4; ECDI-SP, ethylene carbodiimide donor splenocytes; Gal, galactose- α 1,3-galactose; GTKO, α 1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout; hDAF, human decay accelerating factor; IFN- γ , interferon-gamma; IL, interleukin; mAb, monoclonal antibody; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; MLR, mixed lymphocyte reactions; MSC, mesenchymal stromal cells; MST, median survival times; NHP, non-human primate; NK, natural killer; pAEC, porcine aortic endothelial cells; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; PD-L1, programmed cell death ligand 1; POD, post-operative day; SLA, swine leukocyte antigen; TBM, thrombomodulin; TCR, T cell receptor; Treg, regulatory T cell.

^{*} Corresponding author. Emory Transplant Center, Emory University School of Medicine, 101 Woodruff Circle, 5105 WMB, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA. E-mail address: abadams@emory.edu (A.B. Adams).

| Funding | 89 |
|---|----|
| Ethical approval | |
| Research registration unique identifying number (UIN) | |
| Trial registry number – ISRCTN | |
| Author contribution | 89 |
| Guarantor | |
| References | 89 |

1. Introduction

Organ transplantation is the treatment of choice for most endstage organ diseases, yet the largest barrier to wider clinical application is the shortage of available organs. In renal transplant, the median wait time for recipients is >4 years with an estimated fourteen patient deaths per day while awaiting a donor kidney [1]. Potential avenues for expanding the number of available organs include increased enrollment of deceased and living donors, bioengineering of donor organs, and xenotransplantation. In xenotransplantation, pigs are widely considered the optimal donor species due to similar anatomy and physiology between human and swine organs, high reproductive potential, and ethical tolerability. Recent advances in genetic editing technology are eliminating the prior hurdles that impeded xenotransplantation from becoming a clinical reality [2].

Traditionally, research aimed at prevention of xenograft rejection focused on B cells, complement cascade activation, and antibody-mediated rejection (AMR). Preformed antibodies bind xenoantigens such as galactose-α1,3-galactose (Gal) with subsequent activation of the complement and coagulation cascades which results in endothelial injury and hyperacute thrombosis of the xenograft. Genetic engineering advances have produced porcine xenografts capable of avoiding hyperacute rejection through deletion of the Gal-producing enzyme, a1,3galactosyltransferase gene-knockouts (GTKO), or through expression of complement regulatory proteins. Transgenic heterotopic porcine hearts now survive 6 months in baboons [3-5], and xenoislet survival greater than 1 year is described in non-human primates (NHP) [3.6.7]. The authors recently reported survival >126 days in a pig-to-NHP kidney transplant model using GTKO/hDAF (human decay accelerating factor) pig kidneys [8] with current survival now over 10 months in one animal (>280 days) [unpublished results]. Cooper et al. also published >100 day survival with a multi-gene transgenic/GTKO porcine kidney transplanted into an NHP [9]. As the field continues to produce improvements in humoral rejection through genomic editing advancements, T cell rejection and strategies to overcome it will play an increasingly important role.

Similar to the allogeneic response, T cells in xeno-transplantation are activated through direct and indirect pathways. During direct activation, recipient (NHP or human) T cell receptors (TCR) bind swine leukocyte antigen (SLA) class I and class II on porcine antigen-presenting cells (APCs). Porcine APCs are either passenger dendritic cells or endothelial cells that constitutively express CD80/86 (as opposed to human APCs) [10,11]. This interaction results in T cell-mediated cytotoxicity directed against the xenograft vascular endothelium. The indirect pathway of T cell activation involves NHP/human recipient T cells recognizing porcine donor peptide presented on NHP/human recipient major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II. This leads to CD4+ T cell stimulation, B cell activation, denovo antibody production, and humoral xenograft rejection.

Finally, activated T cells produce cytokines that prime the innate immune system, including macrophages and natural killer (NK) cells, a process which ultimately leads to xenograft dysfunction [11–13]. While the direct xenogeneic and allogeneic responses appear to be equivalent [14], the indirect xenogeneic response is stronger than its allogeneic counterpart [15]. Strategies that target T cell activation are an important component of any regimen that achieves successful long-term xenograft survival.

2. Costimulation blockade to prevent xenogeneic T cell responses

T cell activation requires binding of the TCR to an MHC-peptide complex on the APC as well as a second costimulatory signal. The development of fusion proteins or antibodies that block these second signals is an established strategy to prevent both allogeneic [16] and xenogeneic T cell responses. One of the first studies to utilize the fusion protein CTLA4-Ig (abatacept), which impedes CD28-CD80/86 interactions, was a xenogeneic human-to-mouse islet model where treatment with CTLA4-Ig significantly prolonged islet survival [17]. More recently, xenotransplant studies have focused on antibodies targeting the CD40-CD154 pathway [3,18]. Anti-human CD154 monoclonal antibody (anti-CD154 mAb) remains the most commonly used agent in xenokidney models with reported survival times of 4-83 days in life-sustaining models [3,19-21] (Table 1). Despite promising survival data, anti-CD154 mAb is limited in its potential for clinical translation due to thromboembolic concerns. As an alternative approach, our group and others have studied an antibody directed at CD40

Iwase et al. recently published comparisons of three regimens in pig-to-baboon heterotopic heart transplant: (i) anti-CD154 mAb, (ii) CTLA4-Ig (abatacept), and (iii) anti-CD40 mAb plus belatacept (high-affinity CTLA4-Ig). Both anti-CD154-and anti-CD40-containing regimens effectively controlled the adaptive immune response to xenoantigen, while CD28 blockade alone (abatacept) failed to adequately control the anti-porcine response [25].

Our group also recently compared CD40-CD154 blockade and CD28-CD80/86 blockade using a recombinant anti-CD154 antibody (5c8; NIH Nonhuman Primate Reagent Resource, Boston, MA, USA) and belatacept in a pig-to-primate renal transplant model [8]. Costimulation blockade with anti-CD154 more effectively prolonged survival than belatacept [8] (Table 1). Taken together, these studies suggest that currently available CD28-blocking reagents are insufficient to prevent T cell activation in xenotransplant (Table 1). This may be due to decreased binding ability of belatacept to porcine costimulatory molecules CD80/86 [26]. Moving forward, it appears that blockade of the CD40-CD154 pathway is a critical component of an immunosuppressive regimen aimed at controlling the xenogeneic T cell response.

Table 1

. Costimulation blockade and T cell depletion in large animal models of xenotransplantation. Pig-to-NHP models with successful long-term survival are summarized from the literature for renal, islet, and heterotopic heart xenotransplantation. Results are grouped by costimulation blockade reagent. Costimulation blockade of the CD40-CD154 pathway is more successful than CD28-CD80/86 blockade. In particular, anti-CD154 (5c8) yields the most impressive results in both renal and cardiac models. T cell depletion using ATG is most common with maximum survival of 136 days in life-sustaining models, i.e. renal transplantation. Anti-CD4 and anti-CD8 depleting antibodies have produced exciting results with ongoing survival >280 days in a renal model. Results of anti-CD3 rIT are less successful with survival of 23 days despite combination therapy with costimulation blockade.

| Costimulation blockade | T cell depletion | Pig genotype | Organ type | Survival (days) | First author |
|-------------------------------------|--|-----------------|-------------------|-----------------|------------------------|
| CD40-CD154 blockade | | | | | |
| anti-CD154 mAb | ATG | CD46 | Islet | 396 | Van der Windt 2009 [7] |
| | ATG | GTKO | Kidney | 83 | Griesemer 2009 [20] |
| | | | | | Shimizu 2012 [21] |
| | anti-CD3 rIT | GTKO | Kidney | 23 | Nishimura 2011 [27] |
| Human-mouse chimeric | anti-CD4 (CD4R1) and | GTKO/hDAF | Kidney | >280 | Higginbotham 2015 |
| anti-CD154 (5c8) | anti-CD8 (M-T807R1) depleting antibodies | | | | [unpublished, [8]] |
| | ATG | GTKO/CD46/TBM | Heterotopic heart | 236 | Mohiuddin 2014 [5] |
| anti-CD40 mAb (2C10R4) | ATG | GTKO/CD46/TBM | Heterotopic heart | >500 | Mohiuddin 2014 [5] |
| | ATG | GTKO/multi-gene | Kidney | 136 | Iwase 2015 [9] |
| | | transgenic | | | |
| CD28-CD80/86 blockade | | | | | |
| High affinity CTLA4-Ig (belatacept) | anti-CD4 (CD4R1) and anti-CD8 | GTKO/hDAF | Kidney | 21 | Higginbotham 2015 [8] |
| | (M-T807R1) depleting antibodies | | | | |
| CTLA4-Ig (abatacept) | ATG | GTKO/CD46/CD55 | Heterotopic heart | 23 | Iwase 2015 [25] |

3. T cell depletion and clonal reduction

The clone size of the xenogeneic T cell response is estimated to be similar, if not larger, than the typical allogeneic response [14.15]. Given this challenging barrier, most successful immunosuppressive regimens include a method of T cell depletion such as mono- or polyclonal anti-T cell antibodies, chemotherapeutic agents such as cyclophosphamide, or radiation therapy (whole body or thymic) [3]. The most commonly used reagent is antithymocyte globulin (ATG), a polyclonal preparation that results in T cell levels <200/μL for approximately 5 weeks post-transplant [20] and extends survival to 2–3 months in some xenokidney models [3] (Table 1). More specific reagents such as anti-CD3 recombinant immunotoxin (anti-CD3 rIT) or anti-CD4 and anti-CD8 depleting antibodies have also shown success [8,27] (Table 1). Overall, immunosuppressive regimens that combine transient T cell depletion (using ATG or monoclonal antibodies) and anti-CD154 costimulation blockade have produced positive results across organ types [3]. Thus, it seems that clonal reduction with transient depletion is a critical component of controlling the T cell response in xenotransplantation.

4. Genetic engineering to evade T cell rejection of xenografts

Several reports have detailed genetic modification of porcine donors as a method to circumvent T cell rejection. Work in this area has primarily focused on the transgenic expression of coinhibitory molecules on porcine cells. Phelps et al. described the engineering of pigs expressing porcine cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 immunoglobulin (pCTLA4-Ig) [28]. Subsequent in vitro work by the group demonstrated the ability of pig peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) transgenic for pCTLA4-Ig to directly inhibit human CD4⁺ T cell responses when co-cultured compared to wildtype (WT) or GTKO pig PBMC [29]. While the results are promising, GTKO/pCTLA4-Ig pigs were plagued by infectious complications due to an immunocompromised state [28]. Another group recently published a description of transgenic pigs expressing human CTLA4-Ig (hCTLA4-Ig) in skin, heart, kidney, and corneal tissue. The pigs developed no infectious complications and appeared healthy. Prolonged skin xenograft survival was seen in pig-to-rat models compared to wildtype [30].

Another coinhibitory molecule, programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1), also showed promise in manipulating T cell responses.

Expression of human PD-L1 on porcine cells resulted in decreased T cell infiltrate when transfected pig cells were placed under the kidney capsule of rat recipients [31]. *In vitro* studies utilizing porcine B cells and porcine aortic endothelial cells (pAECs) overexpressing PD-L1 demonstrate their ability to suppress proliferation of human CD4⁺ T cells while expanding regulatory T cell (Treg) populations. These studies also report increased interleukin (IL)-10 production after T cells were cultured in the presence of transgenic PD-L1 porcine cells [32,33].

In addition to transgenic expression of T cell coinhibitory molecules, other genetic modifications aimed at limiting anti-pig T cell responses include the downregulation of pig MHC. Hara et al. engineered pigs transgenic for a mutant human variant of the class II transactivator (CIITA-DN) gene that decreased expression of SLA class II on porcine cells. They reported reduction in SLA class II molecules of 40–50% on APCs and complete lack of expression on pAECs. Furthermore, mixed lymphocyte reactions (MLR) between human CD4⁺ T cells and pAECs or porcine PBMC resulted in decreased T cell proliferation compared to wildtype [34]. In a pigto-baboon artery patch model, GTKO/CD46/CIITA-DN grafts without immunosuppression still demonstrated a significant full-thickness lymphocytic infiltrate. When coupled with costimulation blockade, however, cellular infiltration was minimal or absent [35].

Finally, transgenic expression of human cytokines such as CCL17 and CCL22 on pig endothelial cells as a means of recruiting Tregs into the xenograft has been suggested [12], though no *in vitro* or *in vivo* data exists at this time to support its plausibility.

5. Induction of tolerance to pig xenografts

Recent studies of novel immunosuppression regimens have reported exciting results, however the ultimate goal of allo- and xenotransplantation is immunological tolerance. The development of xenograft tolerance is especially appealing given infectious complications associated with the rigorous immunosuppressive regimens currently required for xenotransplantation. Several promising strategies are reviewed below.

5.1. Mixed chimerism

Mixed chimerism achieves tolerance via central deletion, where dendritic cells from donor bone marrow migrate to recipient

Table 2Induction of tolerance in xenotransplantation. Studies investigating tolerance induction are summarized with survival times when applicable. Thymic cotransplant has generated the most favorable results in NHP models with survival of 83 days. While cellular therapy is promising, only *in vitro* data exists currently.

| Tolerance strategy | Model | Additional therapy | Survival (days) | First author |
|---------------------------|------------------------|--------------------|-----------------|---------------------|
| Mixed chimerism | WT pig-to-NHP kidney | ATG plasmapheresis | 15 | Sablinski 1997 [56] |
| Thymic cotransplant | GTKO pig-to-NHP kidney | ATG anti-CD154 mAb | 83 | Yamada 2005 [42] |
| Cellular therapy: MSC | In vitro assays | _ | _ | Kumar 2012 [46] |
| | | | | Li 2014 [45] |
| Cellular therapy: ECDI-SP | Rat-to-mouse islet | anti-CD20 mAb | >100 | Wang 2013 [49] |
| Cellular therapy: Tregs | In vitro assays | _ | _ | Lin 2009 [51] |
| | | | | Porter 2007 [53] |
| | | | | Singh 2012 [52] |
| | | | | Wu 2008 [54] |

thymus and participate in negative selection. Several researchers have achieved stable, mixed chimerism in rodents [36], but translation to large animal models is difficult. One unique challenge of chimerism in xenotransplant is species-specific hematopoietic factors. Studies show that host stem cells have a competitive advantage over donor cells, and long-term chimerism is lost [37]. Attempts in large animal pig-to-NHP models have met limited success [2] (Table 2). Infusion of GTKO porcine bone marrow (BM) cells into baboons failed to achieve long-term engraftment with only low-level chimerism in the blood and bone marrow within the first week [38]. However, decreased donor-specific T cell responsiveness was observed two months post-transplant [39]. Mixed chimerism is a powerful strategy to promote both T and B cell tolerance to donor tissue, but additional studies are needed to refine such strategies in xenotransplantation.

5.2. Thymic transplant

The thymus is critical in defining immunological self from nonself and represents an ideal environment for manipulation of the host immune system. Xenogeneic thymic transplant consists of effective T cell depletion and recipient thymectomy prior to thymic transfer. Exposure to donor pig thymus during T cell reconstitution results in central deletion of cells that strongly recognize porcine peptide-MHC complexes, thus educating the recipient's T cell repertoire to recognize pig antigen as self [2,40,41]. In large animal models, porcine thymus is transplanted either as composite "thymokidney" or as a separate vascularized thymic lobe. This strategy results in significant prolongation of porcine kidneys in NHP recipients [42] with investigators routinely reporting survival to 80 days [43] (Table 2). This novel strategy shows potential in preclinical models, however theoretical concerns exist including the possibility of autoimmunity from incomplete deletion of autoreactive T cells on porcine donor thymus.

5.3. Cellular therapy to control xenograft rejection

The delivery of tolerogenic donor or recipient cells, purified and/ or modified *ex vivo*, is an increasingly-studied strategy to promote donor-specific T cell hyporesponsiveness. Numerous clinical trials, in transplantation and autoimmunity, are examining the safety and efficacy of these strategies. Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) are a subset of cells derived from blood, bone marrow, or adipose tissue that maintain the ability to differentiate into osteoblasts, chondroblasts, and adipocytes [44]. They are of particular interest in allogeneic and xenogeneic transplant for their unique anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties. Cooper et al. described the generation of MSCs from porcine bone marrow and adipose tissue. They performed MLR utilizing GTKO pAECs and human PBMC in the setting of porcine MSCs (pMSCs) and showed that the presence of pMSCs significantly decreased anti-pig T cell proliferation [45–47].

Another promising strategy is the use of 1-ethyl-3-(3-diethylaminopropyl) carbodiimide (ECDI) to promote donor cell apoptosis prior to infusion; long-lasting tolerance is described after allogeneic cellular infusions in mice [48]. More recently, ECDI-treated splenocytes (ECDI-SP) were tested in rat-to-mouse islet xenotransplantation. Mice receiving ECDI-SP infusions survived longer than control mice, however tolerance was not achieved [49]. Moreover, recipient serum tested positive for the presence of antirat antibodies after ECDI-SP infusion, and immunofluorescent staining of islet xenografts was positive for C4d deposition demonstrating activation of the immune system rather than suppression. While researchers ultimately achieved survival >100 days with addition of B cell depletion to cellular therapy [49] (Table 2), more investigation is necessary using porcine ECDI-SPs in large animal models of xenotransplantation.

The ability of CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ cells, or Tregs, to suppress auto- or allo-reactive T cells is well-described. Cooper et al. investigated the human anti-pig cellular response by MLR and showed that addition of human Tregs suppressed the xenogeneic T cell response [50,51]. Interestingly, more Tregs were required to suppress the xeno-response than were needed for suppression of the allo-response [50]. Other investigators have expanded Tregs ex vivo and used the Treg product to suppress NHP anti-pig T cell responses in a donor-specific manner [52,53]. Wu et al. cultured human Tregs using CD3 and CD28 beads, rapamycin, and IL-2. They showed equivalent suppressive capacity between fresh and expanded Tregs against CD4+CD25- T cells targeting pig cells. Interestingly, however, different cytokine production profiles emerged between the two groups with T cells in the presence of fresh Tregs secreting interferon-gamma (IFN-γ), and T cells mixed with expanded Tregs generating IL-4 and IL-10 [54]. While in vitro studies are promising, we await data from large animal xenotransplant models to determine clinical translatability.

6. Conclusions

Recent advances in genetic engineering hold promise for the generation of pigs less susceptible to early antibody-mediated rejection and subsequent coagulation dysfunction. As humoral barriers are surmounted, control of the anti-pig T cell response will become increasingly critical to achievement of long-term xenograft survival. Any successful strategy will require reduction of the magnitude of anti-pig T cell response. Combining T cell depletion with costimulatory blockade, particularly of the CD40-CD154 pathway, shows the most potential. Finally, the addition of novel cellular therapies with immunomodulatory capacity may further enhance the likelihood of long-term survival in pre-clinical models.

Conflict of interest

None.

Funding

Work on xenotransplantation by the Emory Transplant Center at Emory University is supported by institutional funding. L.H. is supported by an NIH Ruth L. Kirschstein NRSA Institutional Research Training Grant (T32).

Ethical approval

None.

Research registration unique identifying number (UIN)

None required for the review.

Trial registry number - ISRCTN

None.

Author contribution

L.H. and A.A. contributed to review of the literature and manuscript preparation. A.A., M.F., and K.N. contributed to final manuscript revisions and approval.

Guarantor

Andrew B. Adams, MD, PhD.

References

- A. Matas, J. Smith, M. Skeans, B. Thompson, S. Gustafson, M. Schnitzler, et al., OPTN/SRTR 2012 annual data report: kidney, Am. J. Transpl. 14 (2014) 11–44.
- [2] P.J. Cowan, D.K.C. Cooper, A.J.F. D'Apice, Kidney xenotransplantation, Kidney Int. 85 (2014) 265–275.
- [3] D.K.C. Cooper, V. Satyananda, B. Ekser, D.J. van der Windt, H. Hara, M.B. Ezzelarab, et al., Progress in pig-to-non-human primate transplantation models (1998–2013): a comprehensive review of the literature, Xenotransplantation 21 (2014) 397–419, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/xen.12127.
- [4] B. Ekser, D.K.C. Cooper, Overcoming the barriers to xenotransplantation: prospects for the future, Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 6 (2010) 219–230, http://dx.doi.org/10.1586/eci.09.81.
- [5] M. Mohiuddin, A. Singh, P. Corcoran, R. Hoyt, M. Thomas, D. Ayares, et al., Genetically engineered pigs and target-specific immunomodulation provide significant graft survival and hope for clinical cardiac xenotransplantation, J. Thorac. Cardiovasc Surg. 148 (2014) 1106–1113.
- [6] J. Shin, J. Kim, J. Kim, B. Min, Y. Kim, H. Kim, et al., Long-term control of diabetes in immunosuppressed nonhuman primates (NHP) by the transplantation of adult porcine islets, Am. J. Transpl. (2015), http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/air.13345
- [7] D.J. Van Der Windt, R. Bottino, a. Casu, N. Campanile, C. Smetanka, J. He, et al., Long-term controlled normoglycemia in diabetic non-human primates after transplantation with hCD46 transgenic porcine islets, Am. J. Transpl. 9 (2009) 2716–2726, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.02850.x.
- [8] L. Higginbotham, D. Mathews, C. Breeden, M. Song, A.B. Farris, C.P. Larsen, et al., Pre-transplant antibody screening and anti-CD154 costimulation blockade promote long-term xenograft survival in a pig-to-primate kidney transplant model, Xenotransplantation 22 (2015) 221–230, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/xen.12166.
- [9] H. Iwase, H. Liu, M. Wijkstrom, H. Zhou, J. Singh, H. Hara, et al., Pig kidney graft survival in a baboon for 136 days: longest life-supporting organ graft survival to date, Xenotransplantation (2015), http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/xen.12174.
- [10] A. Griesemer, K. Yamada, M. Sykes, Xenotransplantation: immunological hurdles and progress toward tolerance, Immunol. Rev. 258 (2014) 241–258, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/imr.12152.
- [11] J. Scalea, I. Hanecamp, S.C. Robson, K. Yamada, T-cell-mediated immunological barriers to xenotransplantation, Xenotransplantation 19 (2012) 23–30, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3089.2011.00687.x.
- [12] V. Satyananda, H. Hara, M.B. Ezzelarab, C. Phelps, D. Ayares, D.K.C. Cooper, New concepts of immune modulation in xenotransplantation, Transplantation 96 (2013) 937–945, http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e31829bbcb2.
- [13] K. Yamada, D.H. Sachs, H. DerSimonian, Human anti-porcine xenogeneic T cell response. Evidence for allelic specificity of mixed leukocyte reaction and for both direct and indirect pathways of recognition, J. Immunol. 155 (1995) 5249–5256.

- [14] A. Dorling, G. Lombardi, R. Binns, R. Lechler, Detection of primary direct and indirect human anti-porcine T cell responses using a porcine dendritic cell population, Eur. J. Immunol. 26 (1996) 1378–1387.
- [15] B. Hering, N. Walawalkar, Pig-to-nonhuman primate islet xenotransplantation, Transpl. Immunol, 21 (2009) 81–86.
- [16] C.P. Larsen, T.C. Pearson, A.B. Adams, P. Tso, N. Shirasugi, E. Strobert, et al., Rational development of LEA29Y (belatacept), a high-affinity variant of CTLA4-Ig with potent immunosuppressive properties, Am. J. Transpl. 5 (2005) 443–453, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005.00749.x.
- [17] D. Lenschow, Y. Zeng, J. Thistlethwaite, A. Montag, W. Brady, M. Gibson, et al., Long-term survival of xenogeneic pancreatic islet grafts induced by CTLA4lg, Science 257 (1992) 789–792 (80-.).
- [18] L. Buhler, M. Awwad, M. Basker, S. Gojo, A. Watts, S. Treter, et al., High-dose porcine hematopoietic cell transplantation combined with CD40 ligand blockade in baboons prevents an induced anti-pig humoral response, Transplantation 69 (2000) 2296–2304.
- [19] R.N. Barth, S. Yamamoto, J.C. LaMattina, N. Kumagai, H. Kitamura, P. a Vagefi, et al., Xenogeneic thymokidney and thymic tissue transplantation in a pig-to-baboon model: I. Evidence for pig-specific T-cell unresponsiveness, Transplantation 75 (2003) 1615–1624, http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/01.TP.0000064335.50622.20.
- [20] A. Griesemer, A. Hirakata, A. Shimizu, S. Moran, A. Tena, H. Iwaki, et al., Results of gal-knockout porcine thymokidney xenografts, Am. J. Transpl. 9 (2009) 2669–2678.
- [21] A. Shimizu, K. Yamada, S.C. Robson, D.H. Sachs, R.B. Colvin, Pathologic characteristics of transplanted kidney xenografts, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 23 (2012) 225–235.
- [22] M. Lowe, I. Badell, P. Thompson, B. Martin, F. Leopardi, E. Strobert, et al., A novel monoclonal antibody to CD40 prolongs islet allograft survival, Am. J. Transpl. 12 (2012) 2079–2087, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.biotechadv.2011.08.021.Secreted.
- [23] M. Watanabe, K. Yamashita, T. Suzuki, H. Kamachi, D. Kuraya, Y. Koshizuka, et al., ASKP1240, a fully human anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody, prolongs pancreatic islet allograft survival in nonhuman primates, Am. J. Transpl. 13 (2013) 1976–1988, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12330.
- [24] T. Aoyagi, K. Yamashita, T. Suzuki, M. Uno, R. Goto, M. Taniguchi, et al., A human anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody, 4D11, for kidney transplantation in cynomolgus monkeys: induction and maintenance therapy, Am. J. Transpl. 9 (2009) 1732–1741, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.02693.x.
- [25] H. Iwase, B. Ekser, V. Satyananda, J. Bhama, H. Hara, M. Ezzelarab, et al., Pig-to-baboon heterotopic heart transplantation exploratory preliminary experience with pigs transgenic for human thrombomodulin and comparison of three costimulation blockade-based regimens, Xenotransplantation (2015), http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/xen.12167 n/a-n/a.
- [26] J. Emamaullee, S. Merani, C. Larsen, A. Shapiro, Belatacept and basiliximal diminish human antiporcine xenoreactivity and synergize to inhibit alloimmunity, Transplantation 85 (2008) 118–124.
- [27] H. Nishimura, J. Scalea, Z. Wang, A. Shimizu, S. Moran, D.H. Sachs, et al., First experience with the use of a recombinant CD3 immunotoxin as induction therapy in pig-to-priate xenotransplantation: the effect of T-cell depletion on outcome, Transplantation 92 (2011) 641–647, http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e31822b92a5.
- [28] C.J. Phelps, S.F. Ball, T.D. Vaught, A.M. Vance, M. Mendicino, J. a Monahan, et al., Production and characterization of transgenic pigs expressing porcine CTLA4-Ig, Xenotransplantation 16 (2009) 477–485, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3089.2009.00533.x.
- [29] T. Koshika, C. Phelps, J. Fang, S.E. Lee, M. Fujita, D. Ayares, et al., Relative efficiency of porcine and human cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 immunoglobulin in inhibiting human CD4⁺ T-cell responses co-stimulated by porcine and human B7 molecules, Immunology 134 (2011) 386–397, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2011.03496.x.
- [30] Y. Wang, H.-Q. Yang, W. Jiang, N.-N. Fan, B.-T. Zhao, Z. Ou-Yang, et al., Transgenic expression of human cytoxic T-lymphocyte associated antigen4-Immunoglobulin (hCTLA4Ig) by porcine skin for xenogeneic skin grafting, Transgenic Res. 24 (2015) 199–211, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11248-014-9833-9.
- [31] A. Plege-Fleck, T. Lieke, R. Dorothee, D. Heike, J. Hundrieser, A. Buermann, et al., Pig to rat cell transplantation: reduced cellular and antibody responses to xenografts overexpressing PD-L1, Xenotransplantation 21 (2014) 533–542, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/xen.12121.
- [32] Q. Ding, L. Lu, X. Zhou, Y. Zhou, K.-Y. Chou, Human PD-L1-overexpressing porcine vascular endothelial cells induce functionally suppressive human CD4+CD25hiFoxp3+ Treg cells, J. Leukoc. Biol. 90 (2011) 77–86, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1210691.
- [33] A. Plege, K. Borns, W. Baars, R. Schwinzer, Suppression of human T-cell activation and expansion of regulatory T cells by pig cells overexpressing PD-ligands, Transplantation 87 (2009) 975–982, http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e31819c85e8.
- [34] H. Hara, W. Witt, T. Crossley, C. Long, K. Isse, L. Fan, et al., Human dominantnegative class II transactivator transgenic pigs – effect on the human anti-pig T-cell immune response and immune status, Immunology 140 (2013) 39–46, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/imm.12107.
- [35] H. Iwase, B. Ekser, V. Satyananda, H. Zhou, H. Hara, P. Bajona, et al., Initial in vivo experience of pig artery patch transplantation in baboons using mutant MHC (CIITA-DN) pigs, Transpl. Immunol. 32 (2015) 99–108, http://

- dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trim.2015.02.003.
- [36] Y. Tomita, L.A. Lee, M. Sykes, Engraftment of rat bone marrow and its role in negative selection of murine T cells in mice conditioned with a modified nonmyeloablative regimen, Xenotransplantation 1 (1994) 109–117.
- [37] L. Lee, J. Sergio, M. Sykes, Evidence for non-immune mechanisms in the loss of hematopoietic chimerism in rat-mouse mixed xenogeneic chimeras, Xenotransplantation 2 (1995) 57–66.
- [38] Y.L. Tseng, F.J.M.F. Dor, K. Kuwaki, D. Ryan, J. Wood, M. Denaro, et al., Bone marrow transplantation from α1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout pigs in baboons, Xenotransplantation 11 (2004) 361–370, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1399-3089.2004.00151.x.
- [39] A. Griesemer, F. Liang, A. Hirakata, E. Hirsh, D. Lo, M. Okumi, et al., Occurrence of specific humoral non-responsiveness to swine antigens following administration of GalT-KO bone marrow to baboons, Xenotransplantation 17 (2010) 300–312.
- [40] Y. Zhao, J. Sergio, K. Swenson, J. Arn, D. Sachs, M. Sykes, Positive and negative selection of functional mouse CD4 cells by porcine MHC in pig thymus grafts, J. Immunol. 159 (1997) 2100–2107.
- [41] A. Khan, J. Sergio, Y. Zhao, D. Pearson, D. Sachs, M. Sykes, Discordant xenogeneic neonatal thymic transplantation can induce donor-specific tolerance, Transplantation 63 (1997) 124–131.
- [42] K. Yamada, K. Yazawa, A. Shimizu, T. Iwanaga, Y. Hisashi, M. Nuhn, et al., Marked prolongation of porcine renal xenograft survival in baboons through the use of alpha1,3-galactosyltransferase gene-knockout donors and the cotransplantation of vascularized thymic tissue, Nat. Med. 11 (2005) 32–34, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nm1172.
- [43] K. Yamada, J. Scalea, Thymic transplantation in pig-to-nonhuman primates for the induction of tolerance across xenogeneic barriers, Methods Mol. Biol. 885 (2012) 191–212.
- [44] M. Dominici, K. Le Blanc, I. Mueller, I. Slaper-Cortenbach, F. Marini, D. Krause, Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The international society for cellular therapy position statement, Cytotherapy 8 (2006) 315–317.
- [45] J. Li, M.B. Ezzelarab, D. Ayares, D.K.C. Cooper, The potential role of genetically-modified pig mesenchymal stromal cells in xenotransplantation, Stem Cell

- Rev. 10 (2014) 79–85, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.08.021.Secreted.
- [46] G. Kumar, H. Hara, C. Long, H. Shaikh, D. Ayares, D.K.C. Cooper, et al., Adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells from genetically modified pigs: immunogenicity and immune modulatory properties, Cytotherapy 14 (2012) 494–504, http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/14653249.2011.651529.Adipose-derived.
- [47] J. Li, M.B. Ezzelarab, D.K.C. Cooper, Do mesenchymal stem cells function across species barriers? Relevance for xenotransplantation, Xenotransplantation 19 (2012) 273–285, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/xen.12000.DO.
- [48] D. McCarthy, J. Bryant, J. Galvin, S. Miller, X. Luo, Tempering allorecognition to induce transplant tolerance with chemically modified apoptotic donor cells, Am. J. Transpl. 15 (2015) 1475–1483.
- [49] S. Wang, J. Tasch, T. Kheradmand, J. Ulaszek, S. Ely, X. Zhang, et al., Transient B-cell depletion combined with apoptotic donor splenocytes induces xenospecific T-and B-cell tolerance to islet xenografts, Diabetes 62 (2013) 3143—3150, http://dx.doi.org/10.2337/db12-1678.
- [50] Y. Lin, H. Hara, H. Tai, C. Long, D. Tokita, P. Yeh, et al., Suppressive efficacy and proliferative capacity of human regulatory T cells in allogeneic and xenogeneic responses, Transplantation 86 (2008) 1452–1462.
- [51] Y.J. Lin, H. Hara, H. Tai, C. Long, D. Tokita, Suppressive efficacy and proliferative capacity of human regulatory T cells in allogeneic and xenogeneic responses, Transplantation 86 (2009) 1452–1462, http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e318188acb0.SUPPRESSIVE.
- [52] A.K. Singh, C.N. Seavey, K.A. Horvath, M.M. Mohiuddin, Ex-vivo expanded baboon CD4+ CD25+ Treg cells suppress baboon anti-pig T and B cell immune response, Xenotransplantation 19 (2012) 102–111.
- [53] C.M. Porter, J.A. Horvath-Acidiacono, A.K. Singh, K.A. Horvath, E.T. Bloom, M.M. Mohiuddin, Characterization and expansion of baboon CD4⁺CD25⁺ Treg cells for potential use in a non-human primate xenotransplantation model, Xenotransplantation 14 (2007) 298–308.
- [54] J. Wu, S. Yi, L. Ouyang, In vitro expanded human CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells are potent suppressors of T-cell-mediated xenogeneic responses, Transplantation 85 (2008) 1841–1848.
- [56] T. Sablinski, P. Gianello, M. Bailin, Pig to monkey bone marrow and kidney xenotransplantation, Surgery 121 (1997) 381–391.